
United Nations A/C.3/57/SR.24

 

General Assembly
Fifty-seventh session

Official Records

Distr.: General
2 December 2002

Original: English

This record is subject to correction. Corrections should be sent under the signature of a member
of the delegation concerned within one week of the date of publication to the Chief of the
Official Records Editing Section, room DC2-750, 2 United Nations Plaza, and incorporated in a
copy of the record.

Corrections will be issued after the end of the session, in a separate corrigendum for each
Committee.

02-65785 (E)
*0265785*

Third Committee
Summary record of the 24th meeting
Held at Headquarters, New York, on Wednesday, 23 October 2002, at 10 a.m.

Chairman: Mr. Wenaweser . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  (Liechtenstein)

Contents
Agenda item 106: Programme of activities of the International Decade of the
World’s Indigenous People (continued)

Agenda item 107: Elimination of racism and racial discrimination*

(a) Elimination of racism and racial discrimination

(b) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-up to the Durban Declaration
and Programme of Action

Agenda item 108: Right of peoples to self-determination*
*

__________________

* Items which the Committee has decided to consider together.



2

A/C.3/57/SR.24

The meeting was called to order at 10.10 a.m.

Agenda item 106: Programme of activities of the
International Decade of the World’s Indigenous
People (continued) (A/57/296 and 395; A/C.3/57/L.7)

1. Mr. Naidu (Fiji), speaking on behalf of the
member States of the Pacific Islands Forum which had
offices in New York (Australia, the Federated States of
Micronesia, Fiji, the Marshall Islands, Nauru, New
Zealand, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands,
Togo and Tuvalu) welcomed the historic inaugural
meeting of the Permanent Forum on Indigenous Issues
held in May 2002. The support for that meeting had
lent weight to increasing calls for a permanent
secretariat to service the Forum. The General Assembly
should continue to demonstrate the commitment of the
United Nations to the goals of the International Decade
of the World’s Indigenous People, one of which was
the launch of that new body. In order for the Forum to
fulfil its mandate, it needed a new secretariat funded
from the United Nations regular budget.

2. Future meetings of the Forum would focus on
health, indigenous rights, education and culture,
economic and social development, environment, and
children and youth. He hoped that the Forum and other
United Nations mechanisms dealing with indigenous
issues could deliver real benefits to indigenous peoples
and meet their concerns. The renewed energy evident
in the reports gave hope that the elaboration of a draft
declaration on the rights of indigenous peoples could
be achieved by 2004.

3. The cross-cutting nature of indigenous issues had
caused them to feature prominently in recent global
conferences. The countries of the Pacific Islands
Forum welcomed that timely trend and stood ready to
support any initiatives for the holistic realization of the
agreed global targets.

4. Ms. Fleming (The World Bank) said that, in its
follow-up to international development goals, the
World Bank was seeking to deepen its understanding of
the contribution of indigenous cultures to the socio-
economic framework which it was assisting countries
to achieve. The Bank was revising its policy on
indigenous peoples to ensure that projects were tailored
to their specific needs and did not impact negatively on
indigenous communities. Extensive consultations had
been conducted throughout the year, involving some
1,200 indigenous representatives and other partners. At

a round-table discussion held by the Bank the previous
week, indigenous leaders from various regions and
representatives of non-governmental organizations had
exchanged ideas on creating a mechanism for dialogue
on indigenous issues. The Bank had agreed to continue
the dialogue on key development policies aimed at
incorporating indigenous peoples’ viewpoints in its
programmes. Participants had also highlighted the
importance of the establishment of the Permanent
Forum on Indigenous Issues and discussed how the
Bank might strengthen its cooperation with the Forum,
with a view to incorporating indigenous perspectives in
sustainable development strategies.

Agenda item 107: Elimination of racism and racial
discrimination (A/57/3)

(a) Elimination of racism and racial discrimination
(A/57/18, A/57/83-E/2002/72, A/57/204, 333 and
334)

(b) Comprehensive implementation of and follow-
up to the Durban Declaration and Programme
of Action (A/57/443 and 444)

Agenda item 108: Right of peoples to self-
determination (A/57/178 and 312)

5. Mr. Ndiaye (Director, Office of the High
Commissioner for Human Rights) introduced several
reports of the Secretary-General prepared under the
two agenda items. Under item 107 he noted that, since
the submission of the report on the status of the
International Convention on the Elimination of All
Forms of Racial Discrimination (A/57/334), three more
States had ratified or acceded to the Convention:
Equatorial Guinea, Honduras and Turkey. To date, 41
States had made the declaration under article 14 of the
Convention recognizing the competence of the
Committee to receive and consider communications
from individuals. The Committee had held its regular
biannual sessions in 2001 and 2002, mostly devoted to
the consideration of 39 State party reports. During those
four sessions it had also reviewed the implementation of
the Convention in eight States parties whose periodic
reports were overdue by at least five years.

6. A new general recommendation had been adopted
by the Committee at its sixtieth session, in March
2002, concerning the follow-up to the Durban
Conference. At the same session, the Committee had



3

A/C.3/57/SR.24

adopted a statement on racial discrimination and
measures to combat terrorism in which it had declared
its intention to monitor the potentially discriminatory
effects of legislation and practices in the framework of
the fight against terrorism. At its sixty-first session the
Committee had held a thematic discussion on descent-
based discrimination and had adopted a general
recommendation calling upon States parties to adopt
measures aimed at eradicating such discrimination and
measures against segregation affecting members of
descent-based communities.

7. Turning to the report on the financial situation of
the Committee on the Elimination of Racial
Discrimination (A/57/333), he recalled that the
amendment to article 8 of the Convention adopted by
the States parties in January 1992 and endorsed by the
General Assembly would take effect when it had been
accepted by a two-thirds majority of the States parties.
Currently, only 36 States parties had approved that
modification. He also noted that a number of States
parties were still in arrears from the non-payment of
previous assessments for the period prior to 1994.

8. Under agenda item 107 (b), he drew attention to
the report of the United Nations High Commissioner
for Human Rights on the comprehensive
implementation of and follow-up to the World
Conference against racism (A/57/443). The report took
into account information and views provided by States,
United Nations bodies and specialized agencies, human
rights treaty bodies, special procedures, and other
mechanisms of the Commission on Human Rights, as
well as international, regional and non-governmental
organizations and human rights institutions.

9. Many States reported that they were reviewing or
planning to review national legislation or constitutional
provisions to better ensure equality and non-
discrimination. Taking into account the victims-
oriented approach of the World Conference, a number
of States made reference to particular groups such as
people of African descent, indigenous peoples and the
Roma as a focus of their efforts to combat racial
discrimination. A significant number of States also
indicated that they were taking steps to develop
national plans of action to combat racism, in
consultation with civil society, national human rights
institutions and other actors.

10. He drew attention to section III of the report,
which described the activities of the Anti-Discrimination

Unit established by the High Commissioner. The Unit had
organized two regional expert seminars in 2002 and,
later in the year, would be issuing a publication on the
gender dimensions of racial discrimination. The Unit
had also begun work on compiling best practices to
combat racism, and planned to issue a user-friendly
publication on implementation of the Durban final
documents at the end of the year.

11. An important area of follow-up to the World
Conference had been mainstreaming its outcome
throughout the United Nations system. The United
Nations family had embraced that challenge with zeal.
Specialized agencies and United Nations bodies had
participated in the expert seminars and were also
working closely with the Office of the High
Commissioner in a number of other areas to fight
racism. The report also made reference to the work of
national human rights institutions, non-governmental
organizations and youth groups in implementing the
final documents of the Conference. The secretariat had
encouraged the involvement of those groups in its
follow-up activities to the Conference and, in March
2002, had organized a special youth panel in Geneva to
commemorate the International Day for the Elimination
of Racial Discrimination. The Office of the High
Commissioner had provided financial support for a
number of small-scale youth activities to combat
racism, particularly in developing countries.

12. In his report on implementation of the
Programme of Action for the Third Decade and follow-
up to the World Conference against racism (A/57/83-
E/2002/72), the Secretary-General had responded to the
General Assembly’s request in its resolution 55/84 for
specific information about the activities of United Nations
bodies and specialized agencies to combat racism and
racial discrimination. The report also included
information on follow-up to the World Conference. The
Office of the High Commissioner and the United Nations
Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization were
planning to hold a joint seminar on education in
February 2003 in Paris, in accordance with paragraph 7
of the Programme of Action of the Third Decade.

13. Turning to agenda item 108, he noted that the
Secretary-General’s report on the right of peoples to
self-determination (A/57/312) contained a summary of
the replies of Member States to General Assembly
resolution 56/141, as well as an account of the
consideration of the issue by the Commission on Human
Rights.



4

A/C.3/57/SR.24

14. Mr. Diène (Special Rapporteur on contemporary
forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and
related intolerance), introducing the report (A/57/204)
prepared by his predecessor, Mr. Maurice Glèlè-
Ahanhanzo, said that he would endeavour to carry out
his mandate with the same rigorous, ethical and
professional approach as Mr. Glèlè-Ahanhanzo. It was
a difficult mandate, and could be performed only with
full cooperation by all concerned. He intended to carry
it out in the letter and spirit of the Durban Declaration
and Programme of Action, with a dual approach giving
equal emphasis to implementing all existing
international instruments against racism, racial
discrimination and xenophobia and to tackling the
causes, mechanisms and motives of those phenomena,
a task which had been insufficiently emphasized in the
past. However important the international instruments
were, they did not suffice to deal with underlying
values, behaviour and attitudes. It was equally
important to promote dialogue among cultures and
civilizations. One of the most important issues to be
considered was how “the other” was perceived in
various cultures and how that image was diffused by
educational systems. He called upon all States to
permit him to visit them and to help him form an
objective opinion as to how the questions of racism and
xenophobia were dealt with in their territory.

15. The Durban Conference had for the first time
promoted a comprehensive approach to racism and an
appropriate historical perspective. He intended to
promote the Durban spirit of consensus and ensure that
there was no North-South divide in the fight against
racism. There must be improved cooperation between
United Nations bodies and civil society, and full and
vigilant implementation of the Durban outcome
documents. Particular attention should be given to the
worrying issue of racism in sport and to the situation
faced by Arabs and Muslims since the events of 11
September 2001.

16. Ms. Kohonen (Office of the High Commissioner
for Human Rights), speaking for Mr. Bernales-
Ballesteros, Special Rapporteur on the use of
mercenaries, introduced the Special Rapporteur’s
report (A/57/178). In accordance with General
Assembly resolution 56/232 he had taken into account
in the discharge of his mandate the fact that mercenary
activities continued to occur in many parts of the world
and were taking on new forms. As a result, there was a
growing awareness of the serious problem that the

presence of mercenaries represented for peace, human
rights and self-determination.

17. A common position of explicit condemnation of
mercenary activities was required. In view of the many
armed conflicts, terrorist attacks, illicit trafficking and
assassinations involving mercenary groups, there was
no room for ambiguous policies, covert operations
using mercenaries, legal speculation on whether
mercenary activities constituted an offence, or excuses
relating to the cost-benefits to private security or
military companies employing mercenaries. Zero
tolerance was the only way to ensure their elimination.
During 2003, the final year of his mandate, he planned
to make a more thorough examination of the said issues
so that he could propose to the General Assembly
general criteria for policies and recommendations that
would be effective in eliminating mercenary activities.
A visit to the United States scheduled for February
2003 would allow him to collect extensive information
and provide him with further elements for elaborating
substantive proposals.

18. Several important events had had an impact on
his mandate over the past months. In Angola, a
ceasefire agreement had been signed in April 2002.
The presence of mercenaries in that country had been
one of the most important issues during his mandate.
Angola had been the focus of very diverse mercenary
activities, such as those of the private military-security
companies, which had converted the armed conflict
into a way of doing unlawful business by exacting the
country’s natural resources. Now that the conflict had
terminated, the international community should provide
support so that, in addition to peace, Angola could
enjoy its enormous resources and attain the
development to which it legitimately aspired.

19. In May 2002, he visited El Salvador and Panama,
during which time he had received information on the
measures both Governments were adopting to combat
mercenary activities, and had discussed defects in
international legislation on mercenaries, the legal
definition of mercenaries, and the relationship between
mercenary and terrorist activities. In El Salvador, he
had observed shortcomings in the investigation into the
one-time presence there of Luis Posada Carriles and his
possible support networks for illicit activities against
the Cuban Government. In a prison in Panama, he had
met with several persons accused of planning to
assassinate the Cuban head of State during his visit to
Panama City to take part in the Tenth Ibero-American



5

A/C.3/57/SR.24

Summit. They were also accused of having recruited,
financed, trained and used mercenaries to carry out
terrorist attacks in Cuba in 1997, possibly in
collaboration with anti-Castro organizations. Following
his visit to the United States he expected to be able to
submit a final report on that question to the General
Assembly at its fifty-eighth session.

20. The second meeting of experts on the question of
traditional and new forms of mercenary activities had
taken place in Geneva in May 2002 and its report
would be submitted to the Commission on Human
Rights. Although the meeting had failed to achieve
consensus on the definition of mercenaries and on a
potential international convention, alternative
approaches had been discussed that could prove useful
for the definition of what constituted a mercenary.

21. Lastly, Member States which had not yet done so
should incorporate into their criminal law provisions
that classified mercenary acts as an offence and the fact
of being a mercenary as an aggravating circumstance in
the perpetration of other criminal activities,
particularly terrorist acts. States should also expressly
prohibit the use of their territory for mercenary
activities. The International Convention against the
Recruitment, Use, Financing and Training of
Mercenaries, which had entered into force on
20 October 2001, had already been ratified or acceded
to by 24 States parties. He hoped many more States
would become party to it.

22. Ms. Eskjaer (Denmark), speaking on behalf of
the European Union, said that it agreed that the Durban
Programme of Action should be the basis for all future
actions to combat racism, racial discrimination and
xenophobia. She enquired about the plans of the
Special Rapporteur for follow-up to the Programme of
Action, his objectives for his mandate, and how he
viewed his cooperation with the Anti-Discrimination
Unit of the Office of the High Commissioner for
Human Rights.

23. Mr. Diène (Special Rapporteur on contemporary
forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and
related intolerance) said that in his view, the Durban
Programme of Action should be made known much
more widely, as a misleading image of the Durban
Conference had been portrayed in the media. He saw
the Programme of Action as an educational tool which
contained the ethical basis on which to conduct the
fight against racial discrimination. It was important for

that document to reach the general public, not just State
institutions and non-governmental organizations, as the
actions proposed therein could help citizens of all
countries.

24. All the mechanisms for follow-up to the Durban
Conference must cooperate closely with each other and
with the Special Rapporteur, in order to build an
institutional critical mass. Since the events of 11
September 2001, there had been a marked backlash
against minorities and a return to a mentality of
discrimination that must be counteracted through legal
and political action. Education and communication
were important in rooting out that culture of
discrimination. He planned to link combating racism
with the dialogue among cultures, races and religions
and enter into discussion on the values that motivated
the actions of various groups. He intended to work as
closely as possible with the Anti-Discrimination Unit.

25. Mr. Amorós Núñez (Cuba) said that racist
propaganda disseminated over the Internet was a
growing problem, and enquired about any measures
planned to combat it.

26. Mr. Diène (Special Rapporteur on contemporary
forms of racism, racial discrimination, xenophobia and
related intolerance) replied that the appearance of such
material on the Internet was an indication that racial
discrimination and xenophobia remained an open
question. Many countries found a conflict between
their constitutional guarantees of freedom of
expression and the ethical values which deemed such
material abhorrent. It was important to work closely
with Governments and civil society to involve the
information media in the efforts to curb that activity.
Those who controlled the information media could be
the most influential agents for change.

27. Ms. Eskjær (Denmark), speaking on behalf of
the European Union, the associated countries Bulgaria,
Cyprus, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Hungary, Latvia,
Lithuania, Malta, Poland, Romania, Slovakia, Slovenia
and Turkey, as well as Iceland and Norway, said that
racial discrimination was incompatible with the
principles on which the European Union was founded.
Efforts must be strengthened at all levels to combat a
phenomenon which prevented the full enjoyment of
human rights and threatened democratic values.

28. The legal framework was essential to the fight
against racism, with the Convention on the Elimination
of All Forms of Racial Discrimination serving as the



6

A/C.3/57/SR.24

core international instrument and the Committee on the
Elimination of Racial Discrimination as an important
bridge towards national implementation. Effective
legislation and administrative measures that ensured
non-discrimination and respect for human rights were
crucial in that regard.

29. Prevention must also be enhanced by improving
education, training and awareness-raising activities,
especially for young people. In that connection, it
should be made clear that any doctrine of racial
superiority was scientifically false, morally
condemnable, socially unjust and dangerous.
Politicians had a special responsibility to prevent the
spread of racist ideologies. In addition, it was
necessary to combat the inappropriate uses of new
technologies for racist ends. The European Union also
attached great importance to the fight against anti-
Semitism.

30. The eradication of racism, racial discrimination,
xenophobia and related intolerance required the
involvement of all members of civil society, including
the media and private sector. The European Union, for
its part, had focused on integrating the fight against
racism in all its policies, especially its employment
policy, but also its common foreign and security policy,
particularly with respect to the enlargement process,
assistance to development and matters of police and
judicial cooperation.

31. The right of peoples to self-determination
remained relevant and deserved further attention at the
international level. Democracy, the rule of law and
respect for civil and political rights were critical in that
regard.

32. Mr. Ndiaye (Senegal) said that the condemnation
of slavery and the slave trade as a crime against
humanity and the emphasis placed on the situation of
Africans and their descendants at the Durban
Conference had been welcome. However, racism and
racial discrimination were not a question of North
against South; discrimination and xenophobia could be
found in the countries of the South and in Africa itself,
feeding and aggravating its conflict. Those evils should
be denounced with the same energy and determination
in Africa as they would be anywhere in the world. The
fight against racism was above all the fight for
democracy, respect for human rights and the cultural
and religious diversity in society. Education
programmes to instil the values of respect and

tolerance in children and youth were extremely
important, therefore.

33. Combating racism was a matter not just for
Governments, but for civil society as well. It required
adequate financing and strengthened cooperation at the
regional and international levels. His delegation
welcomed the establishment by the Commission on
Human Rights of (a) an intergovernmental working
group to make recommendations for the
implementation of the Durban Declaration and
Programme of Action and to prepare international
standards to strengthen and update international
instruments against racism; and (b) a working group of
five independent experts on people of African descent.
The establishment of the Anti-Discrimination Unit
within the Office of the High Commissioner was also a
welcome step, and his delegation urged the allocation
of sufficient funds for its important mandate.

34. Ms. Baardvik (Norway) said that the Durban
Declaration and Programme of Action had been the
result of complex negotiations and encompassed many
different and often divergent views, but that should not
prevent its implementation. Coordinated international
efforts to combat racism were vital, but the main
battles must be fought at the national and local levels.

35. Norway had adopted legislation expressly aimed
at prohibiting racial and ethnic discrimination, and was
working to incorporate the provisions of the
Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial
Discrimination into its domestic law. The primary aim
was to provide comprehensive protection for
individuals against unfair treatment based on ethnicity,
with the broader aim of improving the conditions for
ethnic minorities by ensuring equal rights for all. In
addition, as part of the follow-up to the Durban
Conference, her Government had revised its national
plan of action against racism. Discrimination was often
rooted in ignorance and misinformation, and thus the
inclusion of anti-discrimination components in
educational curricula was considered an important
long-term measure in efforts to reduce discrimination.
Racism could not be eliminated without serious and
long-term efforts by national authorities.

36. Mr. De Alba (Mexico) said that Mexico was
convinced that plurality, respect for minority groups
and support for vulnerable groups was the essence of a
sustainable democratic society, and the preservation of
cultural diversity should be its principal goal. To that



7

A/C.3/57/SR.24

end, national and international measures should be
adopted, not only to remedy past harm, but also to
combat the causes of racism and discrimination.

37. The building of a more just and democratic
society depended to a great extent on the prevention
and eradication of such evils. Consequently, Mexico
considered that the implementation of the Durban
Programme of Action should be granted the highest
priority, and a seminar of Latin American and
Caribbean experts had been held in Mexico City in July
2002 to exchange ideas to that end. They had
recommended, inter alia, that States should draw up
and implement national action plans; that the region’s
Governments should adopt public policies to combat
racial discrimination; and that efforts should be
increased with a view to the adoption of the draft
United Nations declaration on the rights of indigenous
people and ratification of the International Convention
on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers
and Members of Their Families.

38. Combating discrimination was a priority goal of
the current political changes in Mexico and the
Government had implemented a series of policies,
including adapting laws and strengthening
organizations so as to protect vulnerable groups. The
right not to be discriminated against had been
incorporated into the Constitution, with protection
should violations occur. The citizen’s anti-
discrimination committee had launched a public
invitation for all affected groups to meet periodically to
reveal the most severe and recurring causes of
discrimination. The main goal of the effort was to
translate the demands of the affected groups into a
legal norm capable of protecting them, and a draft law
to prevent and eliminate discrimination would be
submitted to the Congress shortly.

39. In his statement to the General Assembly at its
fifty-sixth session, the President of Mexico had
indicated that it was not possible to achieve a more
equitable world if the most vulnerable groups were
excluded. The Government had therefore encouraged
the establishment by the General Assembly (in
resolution 56/168) of the Ad Hoc Committee to
consider proposals for a comprehensive international
convention to promote and protect the rights and
dignity of persons with disabilities. His delegation
welcomed the results of the first session of the Ad Hoc
Committee.

40. Mr. Roshdy (Egypt) observed that, in accordance
with the Universal Declaration of Human Rights,
people were born free, with equal dignity and rights.
Moreover, the Charter and the International Covenants
on Human Rights stipulated that all peoples had the
right of self-determination. Pursuant to that right, they
could freely decide their political future and achieve
comprehensive development.

41. The right of self-determination represented a
fundamental condition for enjoying other rights. That
right, however, was violated by the continuing Israeli
occupation of the Palestinian territories. The
Palestinian people were still suffering under a half-
century-old tyrannical occupation, with Israel
selectively applying certain international conventions
that agreed with its selfish interests.

42. The suffering of the Palestinian people indicated
clearly that the international community had not yet
reached the level of civilization it had sought, and that
its conscience should not be so clear with regard to the
progress it had achieved while remaining quiet about
the killings, deportations and dispossessions that were
the daily lot of the Palestinian children, women and old
people. The Israeli occupation authorities were still
defying the Palestinian people and the will and the law
of the international community.

43. The right of self-determination was synonymous
with another right that international law had confirmed
clearly and forcefully — the right to resist occupation
when peaceful means for regaining freedom had failed.
The right of self-determination was a natural right for
all peoples, and as long as their lands remained
occupied, resistance remained a right. His delegation
affirmed once more the right of the Palestinian people
to self-determination and to fight against occupation,
just as the European peoples had resisted foreign
occupation 60 years earlier.

44. The Palestinian people would reach their goals,
however long it might take, and however difficult the
road ahead might be. No matter how stubborn the
Israelis would be, the resistance of the Palestinian
people would be greater. There was no power that
could stop the will of a people that had decided to
manage its own affairs and to reclaim its legitimate
rights.

45. Mr. Mamdouhi (Islamic Republic of Iran) said
implementation of the Durban Declaration and
Programme of Action required political will, as well as



8

A/C.3/57/SR.24

adequate funding at the national, regional and
international levels. Racial discrimination threatened
the foundations of all societies and led to poverty,
underdevelopment and marginalization. His delegation
welcomed the efforts of the Office of the High
Commissioner on Human Rights in its follow-up to the
World Conference, including the establishment of an
Anti-Discrimination Unit.

46. The Islamic Republic of Iran had been actively
involved in the World Conference and the preparatory
process; indeed, the country’s commitment could be
traced to its own cultural values and heritage. The
Government remained determined to combat racism at
both the national and international levels, including in
the framework of cooperation with the Committee on
the Elimination of Racial Discrimination.

47. Mr. Fadl (Sudan) said that his country shared the
concern of the international community about racism
and xenophobia, especially towards immigrants,
refugees and ethnic minorities. His delegation, based
on the belief of equal dignity among human beings,
stressed the need to have advance warning of possible
harm done by racism in the world. It was also
necessary to strengthen international cultural and social
cooperation in order to promote ethnic diversity,
respect for the economic, cultural and political
characteristics of countries, and the peaceful
coexistence of different cultures and civilizations.

48. As a party to the International Convention on the
Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, the
Sudan had promulgated laws to prevent discrimination.
It welcomed the Durban Declaration and Programme of
Action, a fundamental document for effective
cooperation to fight racism. The Declaration could not
be implemented without national and international
political will and the provision of the necessary
financial means. That would include reinforcing the
Anti-Discrimination Unit and the implementation of
Commission on Human Rights resolution 2002/68.

49. His delegation noted the reference in paragraph
15 of the report of the Special Rapporteur on
contemporary forms of racism (A/57/204) to
discrimination against Muslims and people of Arab
origin following the terrorist attacks of 11 September
2001, and called for the implementation of
Commission on Human Rights resolution 2002/9,
entitled “Combating defamation of religions”. Given,
furthermore, the racist and hate-mongering campaigns

on the Internet, his delegation recommended the
drafting of national and international laws in order to
deter those responsible for such campaigns.

50. The Sudan agreed with the view of the African
Union concerning self-determination, whereby such
right applied solely to the people who lived under the
yoke of imperialism or foreign occupation. With that
view in mind, it affirmed the right of people to self-
determination. However, that right should not be
understood as including encouragement of the
fragmentation of countries, interference in their
internal affairs or violation of their sovereignty and
territorial integrity. Such misinterpretations could
jeopardize the stability and security of countries,
intensify disputes, threaten international peace and
security, and increase the social and economic
suffering of peoples.

51. His delegation called upon the international
community to be attentive to what was occurring in the
occupied Palestinian territories, where the most
egregious forms of tyranny were taking place under
Israeli occupation. It called for the implementation of
the relevant resolutions that would grant the Palestinian
people their right to self-determination and to an
independent State with Jerusalem as its capital.

52. His delegation welcomed the report of the Special
Rapporteur on the use of mercenaries (A/57/178), and
agreed that the lack of a clear legal definition of
mercenaries had increased their illegal activities and
had led them to carry out terrorist acts. The cooperation
of the international community was needed to stop such
activities. His delegation recommended the adoption of
a clear definition of mercenaries and a new
international instrument that would criminalize their
activities, and those who encouraged them.

53. Mr. Amorós Núñez (Cuba) said that, at the
World Conference against racism, the international
community had chosen to emphasize the principles of
universality, objectivity and non-selectivity in
examining human-rights questions, since the enormous
challenges identified at the Conference could only be
tackled by cooperation.

54. The Conference had acknowledged that slavery
and the slave trade had always been crimes against
humanity, that such practices were among the main
manifestations of racism and related intolerance, and
that victims continued to suffer the consequences. It
had also recognized that colonialism had led to racial



9

A/C.3/57/SR.24

discrimination and had contributed to poverty, social
exclusion and economic disparities, particularly in
developing countries. Despite significant progress in
making moral reparation to the victims of such crimes,
important matters remained pending for the full
restitution of their dignity and compensation for the
harm they had suffered. Cuba called on the States
concerned to reverse the consequences of such
practices and comply with their moral obligations.

55. Racism, intolerance, racial discrimination and
xenophobia were still present in different parts of the
world, and often manifested themselves in new and
more sophisticated ways, particularly in the
industrialized world. The main goals of three decades
of combating racism had not been achieved; racist
violence continued to occur, particularly in Europe and
North America, and theories that promoted the
superiority of certain races and cultures proliferated
and were becoming institutionalized.

56. Immigrants were now increasingly affected by
discrimination and intolerance, as the Special
Rapporteur on contemporary forms of racism had
mentioned in his report (A/57/204). They had become
scapegoats for the ills affecting developed societies;
they suffered verbal and physical violence inflicted by
members of fundamentalist ultra-right parties and
xenophobic organizations. In some highly developed
countries, moreover, certain categories of immigrants
had been deprived of the basic services of health and
education.

57. Acts of racism and intolerance had increased with
the resurgence of xenophobic ideologies and the abuse
of the Internet, and regulations ensuring responsible
use of the Internet should be developed. Racism also
persisted in penal systems, the administration of justice
and law enforcement, thereby contributing to an over-
representation of certain ethnic groups among
prisoners. That situation was particularly critical in the
United States, where almost three fifths of the prison
population was Afro-American, although that group
comprised only 13 per cent of the overall population,
and where the average annual income of a white family
was almost double that of an Afro-American family.

58. Concern was growing about the increase in
discrimination against Muslims and Arabs since the
terrorist attacks of 11 September 2001, and the
initiatives recommended at the Durban Conference
should be implemented in order to reverse that trend. It

was essential to fulfil urgently all the Durban
commitments. The United Nations agencies should be
called on to disseminate the Durban Declaration and
Programme of Action and to incorporate their
provisions into their respective mandates.

59. Mr. Youssef (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) said it
was regrettable that the period following the Durban
Conference had witnessed acts of discrimination
against Muslims and Arabs, as their houses of worship,
cultural centres and properties had been attacked in
different parts of the world. Arabs and Muslims, as a
result of laws enacted under the pretext of fighting
terrorism, were subject to discriminatory measures
based on racial profiling, names and places of birth.

60. His delegation condemned vehemently all such
xenophobic attitudes. They were no longer confined to
marginal or extreme-right political parties in Western
countries, but had become part of their legislation.
Such discrimination represented a grave violation of
human rights, even a crime against humanity.

61. His delegation condemned policies that favoured
one culture over others and the increasing use of
modern communications technology to spread racial
superiority and xenophobic ideas. It urged the adoption
of all necessary measures to stop such practices. The
Durban Declaration and Programme of Action aimed to
save people from slavery, trafficking and imperialism,
although the Declaration did not mention
compensation. Victims should be compensated by those
countries responsible for their plight. His delegation
welcomed the establishment of the Anti-Discrimination
Unit, and hoped that it would be provided with the
necessary support.

62. Referring to the right of self-determination, he
said that the United Nations was responsible for
helping all peoples still living under occupation to
exercise that right, especially the Palestinian people,
who had the right to establish their own independent
State in all the lands of Palestine.

63. One of the main reasons that prevented peoples
from exercising their right of self-determination was
the use of mercenaries. They were also used to
destabilize Governments or to subvert regional peace
and the sovereignty of independent States. Peace was
still a dream for many peoples in Africa. They were
surrounded by armed conflicts involving mercenaries,
and lacked access to their natural resources. Greed over
owning those resources was the real reason for



10

A/C.3/57/SR.24

undermining legitimate Governments, for arming and
financing rebellious factions and for fomenting internal
struggles, incited by those who dominated the markets
for precious metals and stones in Europe.

64. His delegation condemned the use of
mercenaries, which was harming mostly Africa, and
recommended that the same attention given to
combating international terrorism should be given to
fighting that phenomenon. It urged all countries which
had not yet done so to become party to the
International Convention against the Recruitment, Use,
Financing and Training of Mercenaries.

65. Ms. Otiti (Uganda) said that she categorically
disagreed with the references to Uganda in the report
of the Special Rapporteur on the use of mercenaries
(A/57/178), which had neither basis in fact nor credible
sources. If the Special Rapporteur had paid attention to
her delegation’s statements during the debate on the
relevant agenda items at the fifty-sixth session, he
would have been appraised of the correct facts
concerning the situation in the country, which had
suffered owing to mercenary activities in its western
and northern parts. She was surprised that the Special
Rapporteur should choose to misrepresent the situation
to the Committee, while adopting inadequate
definitions of “mercenary activities” and “self-
determination”. It was a further matter of concern that
certain Special Rapporteurs should absent themselves
from meetings involving dialogue with States, which
was an important step in the consideration of their
work and in the responsible fulfilment of their
mandate.

The meeting rose at 12.30 p.m.


